RECEIVED

Jun 09 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenville County
Greenville County Court of Common Pleas
Hon. Judge Alex Kinlaw, Jr.

2023-000025

George C. Hassiotis and Constantinon
Hassiotis,.....Appellants,

Versus

The City of Greenville, South
Carolina,.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Scarlet B. Moore, #72534
Attorney for Appellants
P.O. Box 17615
Greenville, S.C. 29606
(864) 214-5805
(864) 752-0930 (FAX)

June 9, 2023

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in finding that the Appellants were not entitled to a jury trial on their equal protection claims against the City of Greenville, in which the Appellants alleged that the City's application of a 103-acre rezoning plan violated the Appellants' equal protection rights?
- II. Did the trial court err in finding that the City of Greenville did not violate the equal protection rights, and procedural and substantive due process rights, of the Appellants in their application of a 103-acre rezoning plan, and did the trial court err in ruling against the Appellants, and awarding fees and costs to the City?
- III. Were the Appellants entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs in this matter pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and S.C. Code § 15-77-300?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is an appeal of an order of Judgment entered by Honorable Judge Alex Kinlaw, Jr. on September 14, 2022, following a non-jury trial held on August 29 and 30, 2022. (Judgment) The Appellants in this matter, George C. Hassiotis and Constantinon Hassiotis, are brothers and property owners in the City of Greenville. The Appellants filed a Summons and Complaint against the City of Greenville on April 11, 2019, requesting various points of relief, but specifically demanding a jury trial. (Complaint p. 1) The impetus for the lawsuit was action taken by the City of Greenville in re-zoning property housing a building owned by the Appellants located at 907 Pendleton Street in Greenville. At all times during the course of this litigation, the property and building were leased by a restaurant named O.J.'s Diner, a successful restaurant in the Pendleton Street area of downtown Greenville. During the entirety of the lease, O.J.'s Diner served customers through inside seating, and via a drive-thru window, which would become a key point of contention in the litigation. On or about June, 2018, the Appellants were served with notice by the City that their property at 907 Pendleton Street would be re-zoned pursuant to the City's application for rezoning, effecting a re-classification from a commercial use zone, C3 (one of the most expansive commercial districts in the City), to a much more restrictive classification of RDV which according to city officials represented a "middle ground" between a pure residential area and the pure commercial area. (Tr. Trans. p. 68, lines 7-12; p. 99, lines 19-25; Plaintiff's Exhibits 2 & 3.) The effect of the re-zoning, and the concern of the Appellants, was that the re-zoning created uncertainty for the Appellants' ability to secure tenants in the future, and overall diminished the value of the property. Although the Appellants were able to lease the property and building to O.J.'s Diner and use the drive-thru window "indefinitely" through a "grandfathered" allowance by the City, if the property in the future were

vacated with no tenants for a period of six (6) months or more, the “grandfathered” allowance would no longer be enforceable by the Appellants, and they would be required to obtain a restricted use permit by the City for any subsequent use pursuant to the RDV zoning. (Tr. Trans. p. 54, lines 14-20; lines 24-25; p. 55, lines 1-2; p. 109, lines 17-25; p. 110, lines 1-2.) Further, under the RDV zoning regime, the Appellants’ ability to remodel or add square footage to the building would be impacted if they were unable to stay open during the remodel. (Tr. Trans. p. 55, lines 3-15.) Lastly, the Appellants were concerned that the RDV zoning classification was invalid and arbitrary as applied to Appellants’ property, and thus violated their due process rights, because the classification allocated zoning responsibilities to City staff through “conditional uses” without specific standards guiding their decisions. Appellant Constantinon Hassiotis testified at trial that since 1993 the building had continuously been operated as a drive-thru restaurant. However, he also testified that there were times that the property sat vacant for a year or two in the late 1990’s without a tenant. (Tr. Trans. p. 139, lines 21-25; p. 140, lines 1-9.) Mr. Hassiotis also expressed a concern regarding the uncertainty of whether a drive-thru would be permitted under the new zoning plan. (Tr. Trans. p. 141, lines 9-16.)

The Appellants attended public hearings regarding the proposed re-zoning plan to express their concerns about the impact of the new zoning classification to their property. During the course of the hearings and pursuant to the Appellants’ receipt of information regarding the overall plan, the Appellants learned that at least two property owners similarly-situated as the Appellants in the Pendleton Street area had successfully petitioned for and received re-classification from the City’s new zoning plan which in turn added value to those properties. (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 4.) The “Enigma” property, located at the intersection of Pendleton Street and Academy Street in downtown Greenville, was originally proposed to be RDV, however the

designation was changed by the City to C3 purportedly pursuant to “mere tweaking” the plan – a term specifically designated by the City which in effect granted variations to the zoning plan pursuant to the demand of select property owners. (Tr. Trans. p. 87, lines 1-5; p. 108, lines 5-11; Plaintiff’s Exhibit 13.) Of note is that the Enigma property actually comprised four properties that touched Pendleton Street, across the street from O.J.’s Diner, with two properties that touched Academy Street. Further, the Enigma property has residential areas behind it just as does the diner. (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 13.) The City permitted Enigma to combine their four (4) properties to a C3 designation with more intensive use than originally zoned as RDV. Another entity on Pendleton Street, property owned by the Stone Family Trust and also across the street from O.J.’s Diner, originally was zoned for RM2, or residential multi-family zoning, but was changed by the City to RDV (a more intense use than RM2) at the demand of the property owners. (Tr. Trans. p. 93, lines 12-13.) The Court during trial testimony pointed out that there is also a Family Dollar store on the same side of the street as O.J.’s Diner, separated by a vacant lot, which fronts on Pendleton Street, which is zoned C3. (Tr. Trans. p. 96, lines 12-24.) The explanation for the difference was that Family Dollar was specifically omitted from the zoning map and was not included in the plan. However, the Appellants’ request for a zoning variance to keep their property as C3 was denied by the City – despite the fact that the justifications for the denial (i.e. residential property was close to the diner despite buffers of trees and bushes, and the concerns about the drive-thru’s noise and lighting) were present in other businesses who received accommodation for their demands. (Tr. Trans. p. 173, lines 24-25; p. 174, lines 1-4.) Ultimately, only two (2) active commercial businesses were affected by the rezoning process, which was the property of the Appellants, and a car wash across the street which was not then in business. (Tr. Trans. p. 144, lines 12-15.) Further, most of the residential properties near O.J.’s

Diner were built *after* the Appellants' Father built the building. (Tr. Trans. p. 142, lines 3-9.) Understandably, the Appellants were concerned that the City was not treating them equally to others similarly situated as them, and had taken action that adversely affected the use and value of their property in downtown Greenville.

The Appellants recalled at trial the fact that in the 1980s, their Father owned property in the City of Greenville on Coffee Street located at Pizazza Bergamo in the heart of the City's central business district. (Tr. Trans. p. 162, lines 18-20.) Appellant Constantinin Hassiotis testified that the City of Greenville exerted pressure and threats against his Father that the City would condemn the Coffee Street property. (Tr. Trans. p. 162, lines 20-21.) Due to the pressure that their Father felt by the City's actions, the Father sold the building to the City for \$190,000.00. (Tr. Trans. p. 162, lines 22-23.) The City never executed its Coffee Street plan and the building remains in downtown Greenville – having been sold in 2005 to a private company for \$1,100,000.00. (Tr. Trans. p. 163, lines 2-4.) Constantinin Hassiotis testified that his Father had a stroke during this time, and was not able to renew the balloon payment on the loan which forced them to sell their house to give to the bank to renew the loan. (Tr. Trans. p. 163, lines 7-13.) In the case at bar, the Appellants were concerned that the City was targeting them, given their history with the City, in refusing to permit an accommodation in keeping their Pendleton Street property as a C3 classification while treating others more favorably. The Appellants expressed their concerns about the zoning plan in comments to the City, as well as in the Greenville Journal. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 4, page 2; Tr. Trans. p. 162, lines 22-25.) Additionally, Constantinin Hassiotis testified of an instance where he and his brother were escorted out of one of the zoning meetings due to allegations they were too loud, which also caused police to escort his brother, Appellant George Hassiotis, into one of the meetings. (Tr.

Trans. p. 162, lines 14-21.) Therefore, the Appellants filed the present lawsuit against the City alleging various causes of action including seeking a declaratory judgment of deprivation of civil rights under multiple theories including violation of the due process and equal protection rights of the Appellants, seeking damages for deprivation of civil rights, and recovery of attorney's fees and costs. (Complaint) The City responded by filing an Answer and a Motion to Strike on June 11, 2019, seeking to strike any reference to the events involving the Appellants' Father and the Coffee Street property, as described *supra*. (Answer and Motion) On June 27, 2019, the Appellants filed an amended summons and complaint per the City's motion to strike. (Amended Complaint.) However, at the trial of this matter, the Appellants were permitted to testify regarding the events involving their Father and the Coffee Street Property, with Judge Kinlaw finding that the evidence was relevant to the equal protection and due process claims of the Appellants. On July 11, 2019, the City filed an Amended Answer. (Answer to Amended Complaint)

This matter proceeded to trial on August 29 and 30, 2022. At the outset of the trial, trial counsel for the Appellants informed the Court that his clients were entitled to a jury trial on the claim that the ordinance violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. (Tr. Trans. p. 12 lines 15-25; p. 13, lines 1-12.) Counsel for the City disagreed and urged the Court to proceed with a bifurcated trial in which the Court would determine as a matter of law if any legal claims of the Appellants had merit, and then if and only if the Court determined there were meritorious claims that the matter would be submitted to the jury on the issue of damages and fees. (Tr. Trans. p. 13, lines 13-25; p. 14, lines 1-25; p. 15, lines 1-2.) Judge Kinlaw agreed with the City, and held a non-jury trial on all issues raised in the Appellants' Complaint and Amended Complaint, over the objection of Appellants. A jury was

impaneled prior to the inception of the trial and prior to receipt of testimony and evidence. The jury was instructed to return the next morning, however the jury was never impaneled to hear any aspect of this case.

The Appellants called three witnesses at trial to support their claims against the City, and introduced multiple exhibits. Jason Tankersley, a commercial developer who worked on the City's planning commission for approximately seven (7) years, was called as a witness by Appellants at trial. (Tr. Trans. p. 49, et seq.) Mr. Tankersley served as the chairman of the planning commission at the time when the Pendleton Street rezoning was introduced. (Tr. Trans. p 50, lines 2-4.) Mr. Tankersley testified that as a developer it is preferable to have zoning "exactly like you want it," because that streamlines the process of getting building permits, which saves time and money. (Tr. Trans. p. 50, lines 5-10.) Mr. Tankersley testified that the classification of C3 is the most intense City of Greenville commercial district. In contrast, Tankersley testified that the RDV classification allows for "conditional uses," in which there is an application to staff of the City of Greenville to make a determination on their vision of the use, which then goes to the planning commission with a full vote in front of the public, with the public being able to weigh in on how they feel about the conditional use or special exception. (Tr. Trans. p. 53, lines 12-19.) Given the procedure pursuant to a RDV classification, the Appellants were concerned about the uncertainty whether a conditional use would be approved in the future, thus affecting the overall value of the property. The Appellants were also concerned due to the fact that the special exceptions were not voted upon by the City Council. (Tr. Trans. p. 53, lines 20-22.) Ultimately, Mr. Tankersley said that he had concerns about the proposed re-zoning in the Pendleton Street area partly due to the size of the project – 103 acres – and did not vote to approve the plan. (Tr. Trans. p. 58, lines 9-24.) Mr. Tankersley testified

regarding an email exchange post-workshop expressing his personal views regarding the project, and wondered “who” was really pushing this re-zone, which was never answered. (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 10.) Mr. Tankersley was concerned about the position of the C3 owners, because the commission had not heard from them. (Tr. Trans. p. 60, lines 20-24.) At a meeting on December 20, 2018 at 4:00 p.m., Mr. Tankersley testified that concerns were raised about the new rezoning “cherry picking” for various zoning designations, and that he may have been quoted in the media saying that. (Tr. Trans. p. 63, lines 24-25; p. 64, lines 1-10.)

Virginia Stroud, Community Development Manager of the City of Greenville for a little over nineteen (19) years, also testified at trial in the Appellants’ case-in-chief. Ms. Stroud testified that a letter was mailed to all the property owners in the study area (which area was determined by City of Greenville staff) notifying them of open house meetings that were planned for April 30th and May 1st, 2018, which included a map of existing zoning for the area, and the City’s proposed changes to the zoning. (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2; Tr. Trans. p. 100, lines 3-13.) Notably, Stroud testified that the Family Dollar Store, separated by a parcel next to the Appellants’ property and also fronting on Pendleton Street, was omitted from the re-zoning study and was allowed to remain as a C3 designation. (Tr. Trans. p. 101, lines 23-25; p. 102, lines 1-9.) Ms. Stroud testified that the Appellants made comments and expressed concern regarding the re-zoning. (Tr. Trans. p. 105, lines 8-15; Plaintiff’s Exhibit 4.) However, Ms. Stroud testified that changes to the zoning plan were made for multiple property owners on Pendleton Street based on their individual concerns about the plan, including Upstate Family Funeral Services (who was changed to a RDV), the Michael Talley Law Firm (changed to an OD – Office and Institutional District), Mr. Stone (who was changed to a RDV status), and the Enigma Corporation (which was changed to a C3). However, when the Appellants expressed concern

about their property being rezoned to a RDV due to the fact that a drive-thru window would be a conditional use, they were kept at RDV by the City. Ms. Stroud testified that the potential concerns about a drive-thru window were that the property is near a residential area behind the restaurant that could be affected by the speaker noise and the lighting. (Tr. Trans. p. 109, lines 5-14.) Ms. Stroud testified that the use of a drive-thru on the Appellants' property could have been approved as a "permitted" use, but it wasn't. (Tr. Trans. p. 110, lines 23-25; p. 111, line 1.) Additionally, Ms. Stroud testified that the ordinance required that if the City Council chose to consider rezoning an area larger than requested *or for a more intense zoning district*, the matter shall be referred to the Planning Commission for public hearing and recommendation consistent with provisions of this Chapter. (Tr. Trans. p. 121, lines 21-25; p. 122, lines 1-2.) However, Ms. Stroud admitted that the Stone Family Trust property, which was ultimately zoned for a more intense zoning district than originally designated under the new zoning plan, was not sent back to the Planning Commission pursuant to the ordinance, in violation of the ordinance. (Tr. Trans. p. 122, lines 13-22.) Of note is that prior to the re-classification of the Stone property, David Stone sent an email to city planners threatening to take "other measures to protect the value of our property" if the City did not change the zoning designation. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 5.) Ms. Stroud was also questioned by counsel for the Appellants at trial regarding an email exchange with Council Member Lillian Flemming in which Ms. Flemming accused the eleven (11) commercial businesses objecting to the zoning plan of "holding RDV zoning hostage, but the residents of the communities affected do not seem to matter." (Plaintiff's Exhibit 15.)

Appellant Constantinon Hassiotis also testified at trial that the importance of the drive-thru to the business is that they did not sell alcohol at the Pendleton Street location (as they had at the Coffee Street location), and the drive-thru was meant to make-up for the loss of the alcohol

revenue. (Tr. Trans. p. 139, lines 24-25; p. 140, lines 1-9.) Mr. Hassiotis testified that the drive-thru constituted approximately one-third of the traffic incurred by the business. Additionally, Mr. Hassiotis testified that they had been offered \$600,000.00 after rezoning for the land as the potential buyer had no use for the building due to the conditional use. (Tr. Trans. p. 146, lines 21-25; p. 147, line 1.) Mr. Hassiotis testified that if the property were zoned C3 the value of the property could be at 1.5 million dollars (\$1,500,000.). (Tr. Trans. p. 147, lines 5-13.) Mr. Hassiotis testified that the City targeted his property due to the drive-thru speaker, with lights on and smells. However, he testified that the drive-thru closes at 5 p.m. with no noise, lights nor smells affecting nearby residential areas after 5 p.m. (Tr. Trans. p. 150, line 25; p. 151, lines 1-7.) Mr. Hassiotis also testified that he did not “wait” to see the impact of the conditional use ordinance because his family has history with the City, as described above. (Tr. Trans. p. 151, lines 11-13; p. 162, lines 18-25;)

Subsequently, following the receipt of testimony and evidence, Judge Kinlaw issued a Judgment finding that the Appellants had not met their burden of proof on any of their causes of action, and entered judgment for the City, including an award of fees and costs in favor of the City. (Judgment) The Appellants filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for New Trial or to Alter and Amend Judgment (New Trial Motion). On December 6, 2022, Judge Kinlaw issued an Order denying the Appellants’ motion for new trial. (Order on New Trial Motion). The Appellants filed a timely appeal on January 4, 2023.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the trial judge's factual findings will not be disturbed on appeal unless they are not reasonably supported by the evidence. *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E. 2d 773, 774 (1976). In a law case tried by the judge without a jury, the appellate court also reviews the trial record for errors of law. *Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 263 S.C. 565, 567, 211 S.E.2d 876, 877 (1975).

A trial court's ruling on a party's request for a jury trial will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. See *King v. Shorter*, 291 S.C. 501, 502-03, 354 S.E.2d 402, 403 (Ct. App. 1987) (applying abuse of discretion standard to Rule 38(b) motion). See also *Satcher v. Satcher*, 351 S.C. 477, 490, 570 S.E.2d 535, 541-42 (Ct. App. 2002) (applying abuse of discretion standard to Rule 39 motion). *Ray v. The Caroline Collection Inc.* (S.C. App. 2006)

In a case raising a novel question of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000) (citing S.C. Const. art. V, §§ 5 and 9, S.C.Code Ann. § 14-3-320 and -330 (1976 & Supp. 2005), and S.C.Code Ann § 14-8-200 (Supp.2005)); *Osprey, Inc. v. Cabana Ltd. Partnership*, 340 S.C. 367, 372, 532 S.E.2d 269, 272 (2000) (same); *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 378, 529 S.E.2d 528, 533 (2000) (same). *Ex Parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc.*, 630 S.E.2d 464 (S.C. 2006).

ARGUMENT

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