THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 31 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Hon. Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

2023-000025

---

George C. Hassiotis and Constantinon  
Hassiotis, .....Appellants,

versus

The City of Greenville, South Carolina, .....Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

V. Clark Price  
(S.C. Bar No. 4567)  
Cole J. Goode  
(S.C. Bar No. 106053)  
CASSIDY COATES PRICE, P.A.  
P.O. Box 10529  
Greenville, South Carolina 29603  
864-349-2600  
[cprice@cassidycoates.com](mailto:cprice@cassidycoates.com)

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

Appellants did not overcome Ms. Stroud's explanation for the area's boundaries and did not introduce clear and convincing evidence to demonstrate that exclusion of the Family Dollar Store property from the rezoning was without a rational basis or arbitrary and capricious.

The Appellants' complaints that Planning Staff made changes to the proposed rezoning plan at the request of Upstate Funeral Family Funeral Services and the Michael Talley Law Firm while denying the Appellants' request that their property not be changed to RDV do not rise to a constitutional deprivation of due process or equal protection rights. Ms. Stroud testified that the requests of the funeral home and law firm were consistent with the goals of the rezoning plan, while returning Appellants' property to C-3 (which would have made it the only property on its side of Pendleton Street not RDV under the plan) was not. Taking into consideration the basis for the rezoning set forth in the rezoning ordinance as well as the testimony of both Ms. Stroud and Mr. Tankersley, the City's reasoning for the RDV reclassification of Appellants' property was at a minimum "fairly debatable" and was a valid exercise of the City's right to rezone the Pendleton Street and Academy Street Corridors.

Appellants also contended that the City improperly left the Enigma Property as C-3. The evidence supporting the City's treatment of the Enigma Property as C-3 is much more than fairly debatable. The rezoning ordinance summarizes why the Enigma property was allowed to remain C-3 rather than RDV:

[S]taff also reviewed the intersection of Academy Street and Pendleton Street and given that Academy Street is an arterial street and generates traffic counts of between 20,200 and 27,300 cars per day, and the three (3) adjoining corners are currently zoned C-3, staff recommended that this corner remain C-3....

Defendant's Exhibit 4, R. p. 388.

Jason Tankersley, called as a witness by Appellants, testified that the treatment of the Enigma Property as C-3 was reasonable. R. p. 129-133. This evidence by witnesses the Appellants called establishes a rational basis for leaving the Enigma Property as C-3. The City's treatment of the Enigma Property caused no harm to Appellants and was not a violation of their constitutional rights.

Appellants take issue with the City Council's treatment of the Stone Family Trust's property on Academy Street. In the final version of the zoning ordinance passed by City Council, the Trust property was zoned RDV. This had no effect on Appellants' property and was not a violation of Appellants' constitutional rights.

Prior to the re-zoning, the Trust's property was zoned C-2, Local Commercial. The Planning Commission had recommended that the property be downzoned to RM-2 (Single-Family and Multifamily Residential District), which was a less intense zoning district than C-2. David Stone, on behalf of the Trust, objected to the proposed downzone. Appellants argue that Stone threatened City planners in an email in which he argued that the Trust property should remain C-2. Plaintiff's Exhibit 5, R. p. 335. Appellants infer that the City was improperly persuaded by the "threats" to give the Trust what it asked for. Appellants overlook that the City did not leave the Trust property C-2 as Stone requested. Virginia Stroud testified that in response to Mr. Stone's concerns, Staff recommended RM-2 but also considered RDV for the property. Ms. Stroud testified that the suggestion made on behalf of the Trust was consistent with good planning principles. R. p. 182, line 16; p. 183, line 21.

The first reading of the proposed ordinance by City Council took place at its meeting of January 28, 2019. Defendant's Exhibit 1, R. pp. 374-377. During the meeting, Rivers Stillwell, representing the Trust, asked that the Trust property be downzoned to RDV, which is less intense

than C-2. Councilmember Brasington asked his colleagues if it were permissible for Staff to review and amend the ordinance to change the Trust property to RDV and Council members responded affirmatively. Defendant's Exhibit 1, R. p. 377. At the second and final reading of the proposed ordinance on February 11, 2019, the City Council adopted the rezoning ordinance, which included the Trust property's change to RDV. Defendant's Exhibit 3, R. p. 384.

This change had no effect on Appellants' property. The properties were not "similarly situated". The Stone Family Trust property was situated on what City Council described as the Academy Street Corridor, while Appellants' property was on the Pendleton Street Corridor. Defendant's Exhibit 4, R. p. 387. Changing the Trust property to RDV was consistent with the purposes of the overall rezoning plan, which included "[rezoning] those portions of the Academy Street commercial corridor from C-2 to RDV, RM-1...and RM-2...while maintaining and slightly expanding the residential designation where appropriate based on current uses...." Defendant's Exhibit 4, R. p. 387.

Appellants' contend at page 26 of their brief that Ms. Stroud testified at trial that "the ordinance required that if the City Council chose to consider rezoning an area larger than requested or for a more intense zoning district, the matter shall be referred to the Planning Commission for public hearing and recommendation consistent with the provisions of this Chapter". Actually Ms. Stroud said the opposite, that City Council was *not* required to send the plan back to Planning Commission: "No. The City Council has the final say." R. p. 174, lines 17-20. Appellant's trial counsel then read into the record a portion of the City's Land Management Ordinance: "if the City Council chooses to consider rezoning an area larger than requested or...[Counsel's stumbling over words omitted] a more intense zoning district, the matter shall be referred to the Planning Commission for public hearing and recommendation with provisions of this Chapter." R. pp. 174-

175. Trial counsel was quoting from Section 19-2.2 (E) (1) (h) (2) of the Municipal Code of Greenville, South Carolina. Appellants' trial counsel did not move to admit the code provision. The precise quote from that section is as follows: "If the city council chooses to consider rezoning an area larger than requested *or* a more intense zoning district, the matter shall be referred to the planning commission for public hearing and recommendation consistent with the provisions of this chapter." (Emphasis added.) The use of the word "or" is significant. See Brewer v. Brewer, 242 S.C. 9, 14, 129 S.E.2d 736, 738 (1963) (noting that the use of the word "or" in a statute "is a disjunctive particle that marks an alternative"... "The word 'or' used in a statute imports choice between two alternatives and as ordinarily used, means one or the other of two, but not both.")

Section 19-2.2 (E) (1) (h) (2) refers to two separate situations, separated by the word "or", where City Council chooses to consider rezoning different than that before them. The first would require a referral to the planning commission for public hearing and recommendation, but the second, where City Council chooses to consider a less intense zoning district, does not. The first situation would arise from an application. The second, which involved consideration of a less intense zoning district, does not arise from an application.

The rezoning of the Stone Family Trust property from C-2 to RDV was for a less intense zoning district, not more. City Council was not required to refer the downzoning of the Stone Family Trust property to Planning Commission.

City Council's actions in revising the Stone Family Trust zoning did not constitute a deprivation of Appellants' due process or equal protection rights. Assuming the Stone Family Trust property constitutes a "district", the rezoning of the property from C-2 to RDV made the property a less, not more, intense zoning district. The code section does not require the application process to begin anew with a referral of the proposed ordinance back to the Planning Commission.

Appellants have not met their burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Council's changing the proposed zoning for the Stone Family Trust property was an action so egregious as to require this Court to find that the ordinance deprived Appellants of their due process or equal protection rights. The Appellants have not established that the City intentionally discriminated against them by passing the ordinance. They produced no actual evidence that the City's motive to establish a RDV district in the rezoning ordinance was to hurt them. R. p. 233, line 23; p. 234, line 7.

The City's reasons for the ordinance and the rezoning of Appellants' property to RDV were set forth by the ordinance and the application and supporting materials submitted by the Planning Commission. Appellants were not treated differently in any meaningful way from the other property owners affected by the rezoning. The treatment of the properties of Upstate Funeral Services and Michael Talley Law Firm were reasonable, and unlike the Appellants' demands, were compatible with the purposes of the proposed ordinance. The basis for leaving the Enigma Property as C-3 was clearly established. The reasons the Family Dollar Store property was not included in the rezoning was explained and was within the discretion of the City. The Stone Family Trust owner tried but did not persuade the City to allow the Trust property to remain C-2. The City was agreeable to a compromise rezoning of RDV, which was permitted in the Academy Street Corridor plan and was consistent with the overarching purposes of the rezoning which was explained in the ordinance. The Appellants cannot credibly claim that they were treated differently from the Stone Family Trust by the ordinance when both properties were rezoned to RDV.

Appellants argue in their brief without evidence that the RDV zoning classification "allocates zoning responsibilities to City staff through 'conditional uses' without specific standards guiding their decisions...." Appellants' Brief, p. 21. Appellants initially made the allegation in

Paragraph 27 of their Amended Complaint: “The RDV zoning classification is invalid and arbitrary because it allocates zoning responsibilities to City staff without specific standards guiding their decisions. Ordinance violates the due process rights of Plaintiffs.” The City denied this allegation in its Answer at paragraph 27, thereby putting the burden on Appellants to prove it.

Appellants introduced no evidence that the City did not provide specific standards to guide the allocation of zoning responsibilities by City staff. It was the Appellants’ burden to demonstrate by evidence that the City had either no general land management ordinances or constitutionally inadequate ones for defining and determining how zoning classifications were defined. It was the Appellants’ burden to demonstrate by evidence that there was no ordinance-based process to guide decision-making and appellate procedures for property owners not satisfied with administrative zoning-related decisions. The Appellants did not introduce such evidence.

It is clear the City has land management ordinances. In the eighth “Whereas” clause in Defendant’s Exhibit 4 [R. p. 386], the ordinance states that the City “undertook an evaluation of the current zoning, and the commercial zoning designations permitted within the City’s Land Management Ordinance.” Appellants introduced into evidence Plaintiffs’ Exhibit 9 [R. p. 341], a Planning Staff analysis of a proposed amendment to the Land Management Ordinance’s Section 19-4.2 Table of Uses. Appellants introduced the Table of Uses at trial as Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1 [R. p. 324]. The Appellants also introduced Plaintiff’s Exhibit 11, Planning Commission minutes for December 20, 2018, and Plaintiff’s Exhibit 3, the Planning Commission’s application for the rezoning. These exhibits contain numerous references to Section 19 of the City Code. If the Appellants had introduced the Land Management Ordinance, it would have revealed what standards were in place to guide City staff on conditional use decisions. However, Appellants did not introduce the Land Management Ordinance.

The testimony of Ms. Stroud, who was called as a witness by the Appellants, suggests there was something in the City Code that would guide the staff on matters involving the RDV and conditional use issues. Ms. Stroud, under questioning by Appellants' trial counsel, referred to the City's code of zoning classification when she explained RDV and other zoning classifications. R. pp. 151-152. She testified at length during her direct examination by the Appellants' trial counsel about the conditions related to the conditional use classification and its purposes to protect the adjacent residential uses. She explained the primary conditions Staff would utilize, and she referred to the City's Board of Zoning Appeals and its role in making final determinations of conditional use issues. The Appellants' trial counsel did not ask Ms. Stroud if there were standards in the Land Management Ordinance to guide City staff. Whether the Land Management Ordinance established such standards, and whether they were constitutionally defective, was a matter for which the Appellants, not the City, had the burden of proof. Appellants failed to establish that there are no standards to guide City staff in determining the propriety of permitting conditional uses.

Since Appellants did not meet their burden of proof that the ordinance violated their due process and equal protection rights, the evidence they presented as to the impact of the ordinance on their property's fair market value is irrelevant. It is also insufficient to establish a factual issue as to whether the Appellants sustained any recoverable damage as a result of the ordinance. The ordinance has not resulted in a taking of Appellants' property. Mr. Hassiotis admitted that the property still has a beneficial use and value. R. p. 199, lines 19-22; p. 243, lines 2-15; p. 244, lines 20-25. A legislative body does not deny due process simply because it does not permit a landowner to make the most beneficial use of its property. Property owners are not entitled to have their property zoned for its most profitable use. An ordinance limiting the use of property will not be

held unconstitutional unless it is shown to have caused such a diminution in value as to be tantamount to confiscation. Bear Enterprises v. County of Greenville, 319 S.C. 137, 141, 459 S.E.2d 883, 886 (Ct. App. 1995).

Appellants failed to introduce evidence required to demonstrate a constitutional deprivation of Appellants' equal protection or due process rights.

III. BECAUSE THE APPELLANTS DID NOT ESTABLISH THAT THEY WERE DENIED THEIR DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE APPELLANTS THEIR FEES AND COSTS.

The trial court found that Appellants failed to meet their burden of proof that their due process or equal protection rights were violated by the City. The trial court therefore correctly did not award attorney's fees and costs to Appellants, who did not prevail in the case.

IV. AS AN ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUND FOR THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION, THE CITY WAS ENTITLED TO A DIRECTED VERDICT AT THE CLOSE OF THE APPELLANTS' CASE AND AT THE CLOSE OF THE CITY'S CASE.

The City moved for a directed verdict at the close of Appellants' case and again after the City rested. R. p. 247; p. 292. As an additional sustaining ground for the trial court's decision, the City believes that it was entitled to a directed verdict pursuant to SCRPC Rule 50 (a).

When reviewing the denial of a motion for directed verdict, the court must consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. When the evidence yields only one inference, a directed verdict in favor of the moving party is proper. Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, 334 S.C. 469, 514 S.E.2d 126 (1999).

Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to Appellants, the burden of proof required to create an issue of fact for a jury that the City violated the Appellants' equal protection or due

process rights was not met. The trial court should have granted a directed verdict in favor of the City.

#### CONCLUSION

Appellants failed to meet their burden of proof to establish a violation of their equal protection or due process rights. This Court should affirm the decision of the trial court granting judgment to the Respondent.